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January 6, 2016

The Honorable Board of Supervisors
County Administration Building

1221 Oak Street

Oakland, CA 94612

Dear Board Members:

Subject: ADOPT AN ORDINANCE ADDING CHAPTER 6.106 TO THE GENERAL
ORDINANCE CODE RELATED TO THE PROHIBITION OF MEDICAL
MARIJUANA CULTIVATION AND DELIVERY.

RECOMMENDATION:

It is recommended that your Board give first and second readings and adopt an ordinance
adding Chapter 6.106 to the General Ordinance Code related to the prohibition of medical
marijuana cultivation and delivery in unincorporated Alameda County.

DISCUSSION/SUMMARY::

During the Board Transportation and Planning Committee meeting on December 9, 2015, the
Committee heard a presentation regarding recent developments in California medical marijuana
law, focused on the newly enacted Medical Marijuana Regulation and Safety Act (MMRSA). At
‘the conclusion of the presentation, the Committee directed staff to draft an ordinance prohibiting
the cultivation and delivery of medical marijuana in the unincorporated area of the County for
consideration by the full Board. The primary intent of the ordinance is to preserve the County’s
authority to regulate and license medical marijuana cultivation under the MMRSA by having a
local ordinance regulating or prohibiting the cultivation of marijuana in place before March 1,
2016.

The MMRSA creates a comprehensive state scheme for the licensure and regulation of medical
marijuana cultivation, manufacturing, transporting, testing, delivery, and dispensing. It
establishes a dual licensing structure requiring a state license and a local license or permit for
persons to conduct commercial cannabis activity in the local jurisdiction. Local authority over
licensing, zoning, and public safety is expressly preserved.

The MMRSA defines the “delivery” of medical cannabis as the commercial transfer from a
dispensary to a primary caregiver, qualified patient, or testing laboratory. A dispensary, by
definition, is a retail sales establishment, “including an establishment that delivers, pursuant to
express authorization by local ordinance, medical cannabis and medical cannabis products as
part of a retail sale.” Only a dispensary may deliver medical cannabis to the end user of the
product, and then only when expressly authorized by local ordinance. (The term “distribution” is
used for the transfer between licensed entities, such as the transport from the manufacturer to
the dispensary.)
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Alameda County General Code section 6.108.180 requires dispensary permit holders to “at all
times comply with Section 11326.5 et seq. of the California Health and Safety Code and
[chapter 6.108] in the operations of the dispensary. This includes the prohibition of sales,
transportation and delivery of medical marijuana off the site of the dispensary premises.”
Similarly, General Code section 6.110.020 does not allow the public to possess, use, or
transport cannabis if such acts are not authorized by the Compassionate Use Act (Health and
Safety Code section 11362.5). However, the General Code does not define the terms
“dispensary”, “delivery”, and “medical cannabis” and it includes a definition of “cannabis” that is
more narrow than the definition in the MMRSA. For clarity it is recommended that the General
Code be amended to prohibit delivery, as more broadly defined in the MMRSA, of medical
marijuana and that the prohibition on cultivation and delivery use the MMRSA’s more expansive
definitions of cannabis and medical cannabis.

The MMRSA prohibits cultivation of medical marijuana without both a state license and a
“license, permit, or other entitlement” from the city or county where the cultivation will occur. An
application for a state license may not be submitted (1) without having first received the local
license, permit, or other entitlement for use; or (2) if the proposal for the state license will violate
the provisions of a local ordinance or regulation; or (3) if medical marijuana is prohibited in the
applicable local jurisdiction, “either expressly or otherwise under principles of permissive
zoning.” A permissive zoning code is one in which any use that is not enumerated or listed in
the zoning code is presumed to be prohibited. The Alameda County Zoning Ordinance is a
permissive zoning code. The cultivation of marijuana is not enumerated as an allowed use in
our Zoning Ordinance, making it a prohibited activity in the unincorporated area.

There is conflicting language in the new cultivation code provisions (Health and Safety Code
section 111362.777) of the MMRSA. Despite statements that local governments will be allowed
to issue or deny cultivation permits in “current or future land use regulations or ordinances,”
other subdivisions of the statute provide that if a county does not have land use regulations or
ordinances regulating or prohibiting the cultivation of marijuana before March 1, 2016, or
chooses not to administer a conditional permit program, then the state will be the sole licensing
authority for medical marijuana cultivation applicants in that city or county. While we consider
our Zoning Ordinance to function as a prohibition on cultivation under the principles of
permissive zoning, there is no statute or case law recognizing that it operates as such. Given
the inconsistent language in the statute, we recommend amending the General Code to clarify
that cultivating marijuana is prohibited in the unincorporated areas of the county until a local
cultivation permit program and zoning regulations, should either be desired, are adopted. To
adopt an ordinance addressing the delivery and cultivation issues, that will be effective before
March 1, 2016 (following the 30-day publication period), second reading must occur no later
than January 24, 2016.

Ve ly yours,

Donna R. Ziegler
County Counsel
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From:

Diane Goldstein, Lieutenant (Ret. Redondo Beach Police Department on behalf of

LAW ENFORCEMENT AGAINST PROHIBITON (LEAP)

RE: Support of Medical Marijuana Delivery Operations
January 12, 2016

Distinguished Board of Supervisors, thank you for the opportunity to present the views
of Law Enforcement Against Prohibition (LEAP) in favor of authorizing medical
marijuana deliveries within the city, taxing sales and regulating the time, place and
manner of sales. As a career law enforcement professional in my experience fighting
both gangs and narcotics, I came to the conclusion that it is the illicit market and
prohibition itself that fuels the crimes that concerns law enforcement surrounding
public safety. I am a representative of LEAP, an organization of over 150,000 current
and former criminal justice professionals and civilian supporters, with over 5,000
supporters in California. We are cops, sheriffs, prosecutors, judges, prison guards and
others from nearly every level of law enforcement.

As a retired law enforcement professional, I know that the voice of police is crucial in
the dialogue about drug policy. But in the case of medical marijuana, physicians,
caregivers, and patients are the ones who should be primarily making decisions about
medical care. It is inappropriate for the police to substitute our judgment for that of
physicians and those in need of the care of physicians.

The one area where law enforcement is qualified to speak regarding medical marijuana
is in the area of public safety. Patients need to have access to-adequate amounts of
medicine, however much that is deemed to be, so that they do not need to search for
that medicine in the streets, risking their safety and benefiting illicit drug dealers.
Patients need dispensaries as well as safe delivery options as a secure and safe. way to
access medicine. Forcing patients to go into the streets or to other cities to buy medical
marijuana benefits the criminal element and threatens patient safety. Giving patients a
safe local option to get their medicine is a sound policy that will enhance public safety.
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"It is clear that the illicit and criminal distribution of medical marijuana would be greatly reduced in
Alameda County by allowing a regulated medical marijuana delivery system. Concerns surrounding
crime are addressed by sensible security protocols. By prohibiting delivery, the County will miss out
on the collection of taxes on these transactions. Further, the March 1, 2016 deadline for local
jurisdiction to enact local ordinances addressing the cultivation is illusory, as the legislature has
indicated in an open letter to city and County officials. There is no time-sensitive reason to prohibit
delivery, while doing so will likely endanger public safety.

We urge you to take our opinions alongside those of doctors, caregivers, and patients into account and
to move forward in providing safe access for patient and providers.

Please feel free to contact me if I can provide you with any additional information.

Sincerely,

Diane M. Goldstein
Executive Board Member
diane.Goldstein@leap.cc



